FILED

04/25/2025

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 25-0036

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 25-0036

# JENNIFER SHAHOOD, an individual,

Plaintiff/Appellee,

v.

# CITY AND COUNTY OF BUTTE-SILVER BOW,

Defendant/Appellant.

# **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

On Appeal from the Montana Second Judicial District Court, Butte-Silver Bow County Cause No. DV-19-400 The Honorable Kurt Krueger, Presiding

#### INTRODUCTION

Defendant/Appellant City and County of Butte-Silver Bow ("BSB") road grader operator, Brian Moe, was plowing snow in Butte when Plaintiff/Appellee Jennifer Shahood ("Shahood") pulled in behind Moe's grader. An accident, at an undisputed speed of 1.5 miles per hour or less, occurred and Shahood sued BSB. Shahood claimed BSB was negligent and asserted negligence per se claims based on violations of Montana traffic regulation statutes. BSB denied negligence, claimed traffic control statutes do not apply to equipment engaged in work, and argued Shahood was negligent for failing to yield to the movement of working equipment.

The case was tried to a jury. After the close of evidence, on the fifth day of trial, the District Court granted judgment as a matter of law for Shahood on negligence, negligence per se, and causation. Shahood conceded that her comparative negligence must be decided by the jury. The District Court agreed. The jury found Shahood negligent, apportioning 54% of the negligence to her and 46% to BSB.

Shahood moved for a new trial, arguing there was insufficient evidence for the jury to find comparative negligence despite her prior concession. Shahood's second basis for her request for new trial was alleged irregularities in the proceeding, consisting of the "environment" in voir dire and BSB's closing

argument. None of those issues were preserved for appeal. Every juror Shahood challenged in voir dire was dismissed and she did not object to BSB's closing argument. Nonetheless, the District Court granted a new trial. This Court should reverse the District Court and allow the jury's verdict to stand.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the District Court err in granting a new trial based on issues that were not preserved during trial?
- 2. Did the District Court err in granting judgment as a matter of law on BSB's negligence, negligence per se, and causation?
- 3. Did the District Court err in refusing to grant BSB's motion for partial summary judgment on Shahood's negligence per se claims which sought to preclude application of traffic regulation statutes to BSB equipment engaged in work?
- 4. Did the District Court abuse its discretion by categorically excluding admission of Shahood's medical records based on Rule 403 considerations?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

After a five-day jury trial, the jury attributed 54% of the negligence to Shahood and 46% to BSB. Appx. 1-2 (Special Verdict, CR 142). Shahood claims BSB road grader operator, Brian Moe, was negligent while "removing snow" on Main Street in Butte, Montana. CR 8 (First Amended Compl.), ¶ 10. The accident

occurred as Brian Moe and his coworker, Marty Hanley, were lining up the blades of their road graders to clear a windrow of snow from the intersection of Front Street and Main Street. TR 507:17-509:23.

Moe watched Shahood pass his grader as he was backing up at approximately one mile per hour. TR 512:12-24; 514:5-10. Shahood was in the far-right lane, out of his way, but she pulled in behind the grader as it continued backing up to the top of the windrow of snow. TR 516:16-517:17, 517:24-520:14. Moe estimated that she left only 10-15 feet between her vehicle and the grader when she pulled in behind him. *Id.* Moe was scanning the sides of the grader and watching his blade as it was meeting up with Hanley's blade, so he did not see Shahood pull behind him. *Id.* While working, he explained, he "[j]ust can't look at everything at the same time." *Id.* The ripper attachment of the grader contacted the rear of Shahood's car, causing minor damage. *Id.* 

Shahood alleged common law negligence and negligence per se. CR 8 at ¶¶ 30-74. BSB denied negligence and asserted Shahood failed to yield the right of way to the road grader, which was removing snow as part of BSB's highway maintenance activities. CR 10 (Answer to First Amended Compl.), p. 10 at Fourth Affirmative Defense. BSB moved for summary judgment on Shahood's negligence per se claims, arguing the road graders were not subject to Montana's traffic regulations under Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-106(2), which exempts equipment engaged in work from the regulations. CR 49, 50 (BSB's Motion for Summary Judgment and Brief in Supp. of Motion for Summary Judgment). The District Court denied BSB's motion, as well as Shahood's motion for summary judgment on liability, causation, and comparative negligence, finding "genuine issues of material fact exist as to the car accident itself." Appx. 10 (Order Denying Motions for Summary Judgment, CR 78, p. 8).

The trial occurred from May 28, 2024 through June 3, 2024. TR 3-5. Shahood argued none of her medical records should be admitted into evidence. Appx. 15-16 (Second Order on Motions in Limine, CR 120, pp. 4-5); Transcript of Proceedings on Appeal - Motions Hearing (May 17, 2024), TR 83:6-14. The District Court initially rejected this request: "Plaintiff cites no authority, and the Court can find none, which allows for categorical exclusion of medical records. Each record must be evaluated on a case-by-case basis...The Court therefore denies Plaintiff's motion and reserves determination on admissibility of medical records for trial on an exhibit-by-exhibit basis." Appx. 16, CR 120, p. 5. BSB redacted medical records to eliminate those concerns and offered Shahood the opportunity to propose any additional redactions she felt necessary. CR 108.1 (Def.'s Pre-Trial Brief re Admissibility of Medical Records), p. 3; Transcript of Proceedings - Pretrial Conference (May 1, 2024), TR 19:12-23, 27:17-19. At trial, the District Court initially precluded BSB from moving for the admission of medical records while the provider was testifying. See TR 314:5-11, 352:8-21. BSB nonetheless established

foundation for the medical records and moved for their admission. *See e.g.*, TR 352:8-21, 560:4-24, 571:21-572:21, 610:1-611:24 (Appx. 35-36), 634:8-18 (Appx. 40). Ultimately, the District Court categorically refused admission of Shahood's medical records. Appx. 36, 39-40, TR 611:13-24, 633:11-634:18.

After the close of evidence at trial, Shahood moved for a partial directed verdict on negligence, negligence as a matter of law, and causation (including medical causation). CR 132 (Pl.'s Point Brief in Supp. of Her Motion for Partial Directed Verdict). BSB opposed. CR 137 (Def.'s Point Brief in Opp. to Pl.'s Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law). Although the District Court had previously ruled there were "genuine issues of material fact" related to the accident (Appx. 10, CR 78, p. 8), it granted Shahood's motion for judgment as a matter of law. Appx. 41-43, TR 644:19, 645:14-16, 645:24-646:1. Shahood did not seek judgment as a matter of law on comparative negligence. CR 132. She explained: "Jennifer does not seek a directed verdict on BSB's comparative defense and concedes its defense must remain on the verdict form if the Court grants her requested relief." Id. at pp. 1-2. Shahood noted: "So the Court is not taking that extent of the causation out, and it's still giving the opportunity for the jury to say Ms. Shahood caused injury to herself and that she's 60 percent negligent and she doesn't recover anything." Appx. 37-38, TR 614:24-615:3. The District Court agreed, explaining: "The Montana Supreme Court has repeatedly affirmed that the factfinder should consider a claim of plaintiff's negligence, even if the defendant is found negligent per se. Appx. 43, TR 646:2-11.

Following the District Court's ruling granting judgment as a matter of law, Shahood proposed a revised Special Verdict that eliminated questions regarding BSB's negligence and causation, keeping the questions of Shahood's negligence, causation, and the apportionment of negligence on the Special Verdict. Appx. 44-45, TR 647:17-648:2. The jury determined Shahood was negligent, her negligence was a cause of the accident, and apportioned 54% of the overall negligence to her. Appx. 1-2, CR 142. This resulted in no recovery for Shahood. Mont. Code Ann. § 27-1-702.

BSB is the Appellant because the District Court granted Shahood's Motion for New Trial. Appx. 21-33 (Order Granting Motion for New Trial, CR 165). Despite previously conceding comparative negligence was a jury issue, post-verdict Shahood argues there was insufficient evidence to submit the issue to the jury. CR 132; CR 149 (Motion for New Trial); CR 150, pp. 14-16 (Brief in Supp. of Motion for New Trial). The District Court, reversing its prior determination, held there had been insufficient evidence for the jury to find comparative negligence. Appx. 21-33, CR 165.

A second basis for Shahood's Motion for New Trial was alleged "irregularities in the proceedings." CR 150, pp. 14-18. The "irregularities" claimed

by Shahood focused on members of the jury panel who "knew the various defense witnesses" and BSB's closing argument. *Id.* Shahood challenged eight jurors for cause, and each of those jurors was dismissed from the panel. TR 37:19-38:15, 63:7-65:7, 72:21-73:3, 79:12-82:8, 85:9-86:5. Shahood passed the jury for cause. TR 87:17-18. No relief was requested at trial concerning the jury panel. *See* TR 138:7-8.

Shahood did not object during BSB's closing argument. TR 702:4-718:9; Appx. 31, CR 165, p. 11. Her current contention that the closing argument created an "irregularity" was not raised during trial, and no relief was requested. *See* TR 723:16-23 (showing no request for relief at the time the jury was sent to deliberate). The District Court found Shahood's failure to object "excusable" based on *Cooper v. Hanson*, 2010 MT 113, ¶¶ 37-38, 356 Mont. 309, 234 P.3d 59, despite recognizing "the circumstances here vary somewhat from those in *Cooper*," and granted Shahood's alternate request for a new trial based on "irregularities" at trial. Appx. 31-32, CR 165, pp. 11-12.

BSB appeals the Order Granting New Trial as well as other rulings made by the District Court. The other issues on appeal are moot if the District Court's Order Granting New Trial is reversed.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Brian Moe, BSB road grader operator, inspected his road grader to ensure everything was working properly. TR 502:12-25. The grader was equipped with lights, flashers, and signs. *Id.* at 503:11-504:25, 506:25-507:16. Prior to the accident, Moe was on Main Street in Butte, facing north, positioned so traffic could see him prior to the work area. *Id.* at 507:24-508:12, 511:16-512:2. Moe and Marty Hanley, who was operating another grader, had previously plowed the snow into a windrow and were in the process of connecting their blades to clear the snow from the intersection. *Id.* at 509:6-15.

Hanley was at the top of the windrow, with Moe backing up to meet him, when the accident happened. *Id.* at 509:16-23, 510:5-16. Moe was facing north, opposite of traffic, because "[t]here's no other way to get ahold of the snow and get it out of the intersection without having a machine on both sides to couple together to pull it up." *Id.* at 510:17-511:6. The graders were moving with the flow of traffic. *Id.* at 513:8-15. Prior to starting to back up, Moe checked his mirrors to make sure no vehicles were behind him and the traffic light at the intersection was green. *Id.* at 513:16-514:7.

As he was backing, Moe saw Shahood heading south on Main Street. *Id.* at 512:12-21. The backup alarm sounds the entire time the grader is in reverse. *Id.* at

512:22-24. His speed was approximately one mile per hour. *Id.* at 514:8-10. Moe explained why he was traveling slowly:

Well, it's, it's an automatic default for first gear in reverse, and that's what gear I was in. You know, again, you're backing up, being guided by the pile of snow. You don't want to be in the pile of snow and scattering it everywhere; and you don't want to be away from the pile of snow, because you have to be able to reach it with your grader.

*Id.* at 514:11-18. He watched Shahood drive past the grader until he could no longer see her vehicle. *Id.* at 516:16-21. Moe testified he did not expect Shahood to pull in behind his grader because she was "well outside" of him, and he did not "believe she would end up there in that immediate area where [he] was working." *Id.* at 516:16-517:5. The accident happened as he was slowing down to stop to connect blades with the other grader. *Id.* at 517:24-518:6.

The accident happened "seconds" after Shahood drove past Moe's grader. *Id.* at 519:4-6. He estimated that she left only 10-15 feet of space between the vehicles. *Id.* at 519:7-18. Moe explained: "Well, like, the distance of where she was at from when she passed me to where I would have been touching with the other grader, it was a very short distance from where I lost her in my vision, where I could not see her anymore, to turn my head as I was slowing down to touch blades there at a very slow rate of speed." *Id.* at 519:12-18. He testified he must look at "several things" to complete his work, including scanning both sides of the vehicle, the camera,

mirrors, and his blade. *Id.* at 520:6-14. There are areas of restricted visibility. *Id.* at 522:5-15.

Shahood testified Moe's grader was occupying both the center lane and the turning lane as she approached it. TR 438:24-439:5. She did not hear backup sounds, speculating she may not have heard them because she was in her car. *Id.* at 439:13-22. Shahood testified she was not paying attention at all to the road grader. *Id.* at 439:23-25. As she approached, Shahood was in the straight lane, and she switched to the right lane as she passed the grader. *Id.* at 482:22-483:3. After passing the grader, she switched back into the lane to go straight through the intersection. *Id.* at 483:4-19. She was concerned about pulling into that lane because she did not know what the graders were doing at the time. *Id.* at 483:20-25. Shahood testified she left a space of two car lengths between the grader and her back bumper. *Id.* at 484:1-8. She did not see the graders moving at any time. *Id.* at 484:9-10.

The responding officer, Sergeant Tymofichuk, testified motorists have "a duty to give [working equipment] a wide berth and...give them room to work." TR 275:13-20. He confirmed motorists have a duty to yield the right-of-way to working equipment. *Id.* Sergeant Tymofichuk agreed this was necessary because equipment operators must pay attention to their work. *Id.* at 275:21-24. Shahood, he testified, had several options to avoid the working equipment and, had she taken one of those options, the accident would not have occurred. *Id.* at 276:9-277:1. Additionally, he

agreed Shahood bore responsibility for the accident if, as Moe testified, Shahood pulled behind him in his path of travel. *Id.* at 274:22-275:2.

Plaintiff's retained accident reconstructionist, Steve Harbinson, acknowledged the graders were engaged in work, at least to "some degree." *Id.* at 252:11-16. Harbinson estimated Moe's speed at the time of the accident to be 1.5 miles per hour. *Id.* at 234:19-25, 235:4-25. He agreed that flashing lights on equipment should alter the behavior of a driver to use caution. *Id.* at 252:7-24. Harbinson also recognized Shahood's obligation to pay attention to what other vehicles on the road were doing. *Id.* at 252:25-253:5.

There was minimal damage to Shahood's car, consisting of a broken taillight and slight damage to the car's body around the taillight. *Id.* at 269:17-20, 526:5-7. The damage was shown in admitted Trial Exhibit 6-6 (TR 224:4-9, 490:7-16):



Trial Exhibit 6-6, TR 490:7-16.

Harbinson testified the speeds in this accident were the lowest he had ever considered in more than 2,000 vehicle-vehicle accident reconstructions. *Id.* at 244:24-245:14. Harbinson admitted the delta-v, or change in speed, of Shahood's vehicle during the accident was approximately 1.5 miles per hour. *Id.* at 245:15-24. He was unaware of any study of accidents with a delta-v of less than 2.5 miles per hour that caused neck injuries. *Id.* at 247:20-248:6. Dr. Steven Martini, Shahood's hybrid medical expert, testified the Spine Journal is a peer-reviewed, authoritative source for medical literature, and that a Spine Journal article from September 2018 recognized "human volunteers can be safely exposed to rear impacts of less than 18 kilometers per hour without a meaningful risk of injury." *Id.* at 323:7-325:9.

Sergeant Tymofichuk testified there were no injuries in the accident. *Id.* at 269:17-20, 270:25-271:14. The responding EMT, Konnor O'Neill, testified Shahood mentioned "minor back pain," but did not complain of neck pain and "adamantly refused medical treatment." *Id.* at 562:20-563:12. Shahood's complaints to her chiropractor in the visit immediately preceding the accident were the same as her complaints in her first visit following the accident. *Id.* at 349:25-351:22. There was evidence of several preexisting conditions. *See id.* at 621:2-622:12. Dr. Martini agreed the "elephant in the room" was whether Shahood's symptoms were the result of an injury or the natural progression of her previous condition. *Id.* at 320:18-321:6.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

## I. Order Granting New Trial.

A finding of insufficient evidence to support a jury verdict is reviewed de novo. *Giambra v. Kelsey*, 2007 MT 158, ¶ 27, 338 Mont. 19, 162 P.3d 134. "[W]here substantial evidence supports a verdict, the verdict generally cannot be overturned or vacated." *Id.*, ¶ 26 (citations omitted). A district court's "role in reviewing a jury's verdict is limited." *Buhr ex rel. Lloyd v. Flathead County*, 268 Mont. 223, 245, 886 P.2d 381, 394 (1994) (overruled on other grounds). Evidence is reviewed "in a light most favorable to the prevailing party." *Id.* Further, the Court "will not retry a case because the jury believed one party's evidence over another's; it is within the jury's province to adopt testimony on behalf of one party to the exclusion of testimony presented by the other party." *Id.* As the Montana Supreme Court has stated:

The jury viewed the evidence, heard and viewed the witnesses, and entered its verdict. To permit the undoing of this verdict by affirming the trial court decision granting a new trial would...create a bench supremacy and sap the vitality of jury verdicts.

Maykuth v. Eaton, 212 Mont. 370, 372-73, 687 P.2d 726, 727 (1984) (citation omitted).

The District Court's ruling regarding "irregularities in the proceeding" is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Voegel v. Salsbery*, 2023 MT 137, ¶ 12, 413 Mont. 43, 532 P.3d 863.

## **II.** Judgment as a Matter of Law on Negligence and Causation.

Orders granting judgment as a matter of law are reviewed de novo.<sup>1</sup>

*Cleveland v. Ward*, 2016 MT 10, ¶ 11, 382 Mont. 118, 364 P.3d 1250. "Courts must 'exercise the greatest self-restraint in interfering with the constitutionallymandated process of jury decision." *Id.* "Judgment as a matter of law is properly granted only when there is a complete absence of any evidence which would justify submitting an issue to a jury." *Martin v. BNSF Ry. Co.*, 2015 MT 167, ¶ 8, 379 Mont. 423, 352 P.3d 598. "All such evidence, and any legitimate inferences that might be drawn from the evidence, must be considered in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion." *Id.* 

# III. Denial of BSB's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on Negligence Per Se.

Summary judgment rulings are reviewed de novo. Sieben Ranch Co. v.

*Adams*, 2021 MT 172, ¶ 8, 404 Mont. 510, 494 P.3d 307. Summary judgment should be granted "when the moving party demonstrates both the absence of any genuine issues of material fact and entitlement to judgment as a matter of law." *Id.* A district court's conclusions of law are reviewed for correctness. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Shahood moved for a "Partial Directed Verdict." CR 132. "Th[e] Court no longer uses the term 'directed verdict,' but instead applies Rule 50's term, 'judgment as a matter of law." *S & P Brake Supply, Inc. v. STEMCO LP*, 2016 MT 324, ¶ 8, n. 1, 385 Mont. 488, 385 P.3d 567 (citing *Durden v. Hydro Flame Corp.*, 1998 MT 47, ¶ 3, n. 1, 288 Mont. 1, 955 P.2d 160).

## **IV.** Order Excluding Shahood's Medical Records.

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