06/27/2025

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 25-0036

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 25-0036

JENNIFER SHAHOOD, an individual,

Plaintiff/Appellee,

v.

CITY AND COUNTY OF BUTTE-SILVER BOW,

Defendant/Appellant.

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana Second Judicial District Court, Butte-Silver Bow County
Cause No. DV-19-400
The Honorable Kurt Krueger, Presiding

Cynthia L. Walker Christopher L. Decker BOONE KARLBERG P.C. 201 West Main, Suite 300 P. O. Box 9199 Missoula, MT 59807-9199

Phone: (406) 543-6646 cwalker@boonekarlberg.com

cdecker@boonekarlberg.com

Attorneys for Defendant/Appellant

Patrick T. Fox

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF FACTS (RE: EACH ISSUE)
ISSUE 1FACTS (NEW TRIAL)
FACTS RE: INSUFFICIENCY OF EVIDENCE FOR COMPARATIVE NEGLIGENCE
FACTS RE: IRREGULARITIES IN THE PROCEEDINGS
FACTS RE: VOIR DIOR6
FACTS RE CLOSING ARGUMENT
ISSUE 2 FACTS (JML)
ISSUE 3 FACTS (NEGLIGENCE PER SE)
ISSUE 4 FACTS (MEDICAL RECORDS)
STANDARD OF REVIEW
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
Argument
I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING NEW TRIAL
a. The evidence at trial was insufficient to support a finding of comparative negligence against jennifer
b. IRREGULARITIES IN THE PROCEEDINGS REQUIRE A NEW TRIAL

II.	THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING JUDGMENT AS A		
	MATTER OF LAW IN JENNIFER'S FAVOR ON HER NEGLIGENCE AND		
	NEGLIGENCE PER SE CLAIMS (INCLUDING CAUSATION)	. 35	
III.	THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN HOLDING MONT. CODE		
111.			
	Ann. \S 61-8-108(2) does not absolve road workers' civil		
	LIABILITY FOR NEGLIGENCE PER SE	. 36	
IV.	THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT APPLIED		
	TRADITIONAL EVIDENTIARY CONSIDERATIONS IN DENYING ADMISSION		
	OF BSB'S MEDICAL EXHIBITS	. 38	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Cases</u> City of Missoula v. Fox 2019 MT 250, 397 Mont. 388, 450 P.3d 898
Cooper v. Hanson, 2010 MT 113, 356 Mont. 309, 234 P.39 59
Edie v. Gray 2005 MT 24, 328 Mont. 354, 121 P.3d 516
Fisher v. Swift Transp. Co., 2008 MT 105, 343 Mont. 335, 181 P.3d 601
<i>Giambra v. Kelsey</i> 2007 MT 158, 338 Mont. 19, 162 P.3d 134
Johnson v. Costco Wholesale, 2007 MT 43, 336 Mont. 105, 152 P.3d 272
Lopez v. Josephson, 2001 MT 133, 305 Mont. 446, 30 P.3d 326
Newman v. Lichfield 2012 MT 47, 364 Mont. 243, 272 P.3d 625
Voegel v. Salisbery, 2023 MT 137, 413 Mont. 43, 532 P.3d 863
United Tool Rental, Inc., 2011 MT 213, 361 Mont. 493, 260 P.3d 156
Walden v. Yellowstone Elec. Co., 2021 MT 123, 404 Mont. 192, 487 P.3d 1
Wenger v. State Farm 2021 MT 37, 403 Mont. 210, 483 P.3d 480
<u>Statutes</u> Mont. Code Ann. § 25-11-102(1) & (6)
Mont. Code Ann. §§ 61-8-323, 329
Mont. Code Ann. 8 61-8-106(2) ("Sec. 108")

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue 1 (New Trial)

Did the trial court err in determining there was insufficient evidence to support the jury's finding Jennifer was comparative negligence?

Did the trial court abuse its discretion it ordered a new trial was warranted due to irregularities in the proceedings?

Issue 2 (JML)

Did the trial court err in granting judgment as a matter of law¹ in favor of Jennifer on her negligence and negligence *per se* claims (including causation)?

Issue 3 (Negligence per se)

Did the trial court err in holding Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-108(2) does not absolve road workers from civil liability for negligence *per se*?

Issue 4 (Medical Records)

Did the trial court abuse its discretion by applying traditional evidentiary considerations on a case-by-case/exhibit-by-exhibit basis to determine BSB's medical exhibits were inadmissible?

//

¹ The term "directed verdict" was used at the trial court level. If is reflected here a "judgment as a matter of law" (JML) in conformance with *Johnson v. Costco Wholesale*, 2007 MT 43, FN 1, 336 Mont. 105, 152 P.3d 727.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A road grader owned and operated by Defendant/Appellant the City and County of Butte-Silver Bow (BSB) back into Plaintiff/Appellee Jennifer Shahood's stationary vehicle and injured her. Jennifer sued BSB. The matter went to trial. The trial court entered judgment as a matter of law in Jennifer's favor on her claims of negligence, negligence per se, and medical causation. The case went to verdict and the jury assigned Jennifer 54% fault. Jennifer oved the trial court for a new trial on various grounds. The trial court granted Jennifer's motion and BSB appeals.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue 1 Facts (new trial):

FACTS RE: INSUFFICIENCY OF EVIDENCE FOR COMPARATIVE NEGLIGENCE

At noon on a Tuesday at a busy intersection in Butte,² a 45,000 lbs. Butte-BSB road grader with a 14-foot-wide blade was facing northbound and in the southbound center and turning lanes. Operating a grader takes a lot of focus and attention. TR 536:1-2. Brian Moe had been operating the grader since 3 a.m. or for 9 hours. TR 501:21-23; 535:24.

Jennifer was driving southbound on Main Street, intending to drive straight through the intersection. BSB did not implement any traffic control, i.e., no flaggers,

2

² The intersection was at Main Street and Front Street. *See* Appx. 1 (Tr. Ex. 2 - satellite photograph of intersection).

signs, warning lights, or any other things of that nature (TR 437:17-23), i.e., nothing to tell a citizen driver like Jennifer how to navigate a wrong-way-facing grader spanning two lanes at the intersection she was approaching. She saw the grader and proceeded carefully and with caution. TR 437:4-8. Jennifer saw Bryan in the grader's cab. TR 436:1-16. She slowed down, moved to the far lane, and safely passed the grader. Bryan saw Jennifer and lost her in his line of vision as he turned his head until he could not see her anymore. He did not see her again until after the collision. TR 516:18-21. After Jennifer safely passed the grader, she stopped for a red light at the stop line in the center lane.

With the grader spanning the center and left turn lanes, Bryan started backing. He did not look in the grader's wide-angle rearview mirrors or backup camera,³ in which Jennifer's car would have been visible. TR 543:23-544:2.⁴

At trial, Bryan testified that, to back safely, "[o]f course, [you] check your mirrors, and you know, make sure nothing is behind you." TR 513:18-20. He agreed you cannot drive a grader without looking where you are going, without backing safely, and without being aware of your surroundings. TR 535:16-23. He agreed these are basic rules of the road, as taught in civilian and commercial drivers manuals. TR 534-535. Brian agreed large vehicles are bigger, carry more

-

³ Appx. 2 (Tr. Ex. 9, wide angle mirrors)

⁴ Appx. 3 (Tr. Ex. 8, backup camera field-of-view)

force, and are more dangerous than other vehicles, and, consequently, their drivers have to be more careful. TR535:4-10.

Still not looking, Brian proceeded to back the grader into Jennifer's car. The grader's ripper attachment completely penetrated Jennifer's right rear taillight housing,⁵ totaled her car (443:14-15), and injured her. Post-crash police photographs show Jennifer's vehicle was parked in the middle of the center lane and the grader had significantly encroached into the center.⁶

Bryan testified:

- Q. And would you agree that had you looked, you would have known that she was there?
- A. Had I seen had I looked on that side of the grader, I would have seen her. Yes.

TR 542:19-22.

Due to the relative mass of the grader versus Jennifer's car, Brian didn't feel the collision. TR 523:12-13. Rather, he heard a sound like driving over a plastic bucket. TR 518:2-4. After the collision, in "the left rearview mirror, [Brian] could see that the ripper on the back [was in Jennifer's car]." TR 5187-11.

BSB's efforts to blame Jennifer are summarized in Brian's testimony:

So, you know, the expectation is that you <u>don't crowd the plow</u>. You kind of <u>give us room</u> to do what we're trying to do to <u>get out of the</u>

⁵ Appx. 4-5 (Tr. Ex. Cite picture of ripper attachment; picture of Jennifer's care.

⁶ Appx. 6 (Tr. Ex. 6-5; Jennifer's vehicle in center of center lane after collision).

<u>way</u> and <u>get out of the area</u> that we're in and continue to remove the snow or move the snow to where we're trying to go.

TR 517:13-17. Blame is not evidence, however. There was no evidence of negligence – the breach of a standard of care – on Jennifer's part.

The trial court, having considered all the evidence at trial, the Court ruled as follows regarding common law:

Moreover, without signs posted, working areas marked, or other indicators of the general work zone, the only alternative available to a driver in Shahood's situation would have been to change routes. The expectation that a driver preemptively and spontaneously develop their own detour routes exceeds the scope of foreseeability. A driver could not begin to guess which lanes are available, and in what radius, based on observing a stationary or slow moving work vehicle. Considering the evidence presented attesting to Shahood's behavior, there was not sufficient evidence for a jury to conclude that the ordinary negligence standard was met.

CR 165, p. 6 (01/21/25 Order Granting Motion for New Trial). Regarding negligence per se, the trial court ruled:

Substantial evidence was not presented that Shahood failed to provide immediate use of the roadway to Moe, as Shahood could have foreseen it at the time. Again, it is not clear from the evidence how else she could have yielded, apart from detouring entirely to accommodate any potential direction that the grader might take. That is not the law as instructed at trial, and the evidence is not sufficient to allow a jury to conclude Shahood was negligent as a matter of law by her failure to yield to a working vehicle.

CR 165, p. 8.

FACTS RE: IRREGULARITIES IN THE PROCEEDINGS:

<u>Facts re: Voir Dire</u>: Many potential jurors were related to or knew key BSB witnesses. When asked who knew Brian Moe, Marty Hanley, or Tom Loggins, multiple hands went up (the record does not indicate how many). TR 59:4-8.

- Mr. Fleming was related to Tom Loggins (cousin) and Brian Moe, and he considered Marty Hanley a great friend. TR 36:24-37 (dismissed for cause).
- Tom Loggins was Ms. Gollinger's friend since high school and Marty Hanley's wife was her children's preschool teacher. TR 57:5-58:35.
- Ms. Hawe taught Tom Loggins and Tom Loggins' son, and Tom Loggins' dad taught her. 59:14-17. Also, Ms. Hawe had a very good friend who was very closely related to the Logginses, and she knew the Loggins family better through that close friend). TR 59:14-17.
- <u>Ms. Michelotti</u> knew Tom Loggins because he and his family were very close family friends of her former in-laws. She knew Tom years ago but hadn't had any interaction with him for ten years.
- Ms. [Wendy] McGrath said, "I know all of them. I work for Butte-Silver Bow. TR 61:18-22. She had been a close personal friend of Tom Loggins for 30 years. Her husband and Tom were really close friends. TR 62:16-25.

When Jennifer moved for dismissal for cause for Ms. Gollinger and Ms. McGrath, BSB questioned both, starting with Ms. McGrath:

And I think a lot of times -- You always want to be judged by a jury of your peers; right? That's one of the important components of our

justice system. And you want to make sure that anyone who -- In a small community like Butte, there will be a lot of your peers on a jury when you have members of the community who are active and engaged. And, you know, that's something we've, we've spoken with Tom and Marty and Brian about.

And I think we have an expectation that even if you do have, you know, a knowledge of them, some personal relationships, you know, we would hope that you can still become a fair juror in this case and put those aside and judge this based on the facts and the law.

And I think, Ms. McGrath, it sounds like you think you could do that?

TR 63:23-64:12 (emphasis added). Despite the hope of the judge and the lawyers,

Ms. McGrath reiterated she could not be impartial.

BSB then questioned Ms. Gollinger:

Do you think you would be able to set that relationship aside, *knowing* that's our expectation as well, and judge this case based on the facts and the law?

TR 64:17. Despite the expectations of the judge and the lawyers, Ms. Gollinger also reiterated she could not be impartial. At that point, BSB did not object to her dismissal. The trial court also dismissed Ms. McGrath. TR 65:4-7.

- Mr. Johnson knew both Tom Loggins and Marty Hanley. The tie-in was because Wendy [McGrath] mentioned her husband, Danny, Mr. Johnson's wife was part of their Class of '84. Mr. Johnson clarified it was his brother, not him, who went to high school with them. He said he didn't have a personal relationship with them but knew who they were. TR 65:18-66:10.

- <u>Ms. Lopuch</u> did not personally know any of them, but her brother used to play basketball with the Hanleys. "I know them. I've lived here my whole life, so…" TR 66:18-21.

Facts re: Closing argument: BSB framed the case as Jennifer versus "Butte-born-and-bred" Brian and fact that he (truly) is a likeable and hardworking human being. This, however, is not a case against Brian Moe. Nonetheless, the defense personalized this case to elicit sympathy from the jury for a "working man" who "showers at the end of the day," i.e., someone who could not afford to pay a judgment. To wit, BSB's argued

When you get back to the jury room, you're going to have to decide whether Ms. Shahood was negligent, whether that negligence was a cause of this accident, and, ultimately, to apportion fault for the accident between <u>Mr. Moe</u> and Ms. Shahood.

Initially, I was going to start by talking about Ms. Shahood, but I'm going to start with Mr. Moe. You all saw Mr. Moe come in here. He's a working man. He's a guy who showers at the end of the day, not at the start of the day. He's an equipment operator, and he takes pride in that.

TR 702:17-703:22 (emphasis added).

Without any evidentiary basis, BSB told the jury Jennifer did not look, watch, see, etc., even though facts are undisputed Jennifer saw everything that could be seen with her eyes (i.e., not the future). To wit, BSB's argued:

The duty to see -- Instruction No. 21, motorists have a duty to see, to look where they are going and see that which is in plain sight. That applies to Ms. Shahood as well. It's true that Mr. Moe was driving

very slowly at a speed safe to do the work tasks he was performing. But whether it's difficult or not, Ms. Shahood has an obligation to slow down to a point where she can make a safe decision. She has to figure out what is going on and make a safe decision.

TR 708:8-15.

BSB argued:

Brian Moe only has one set of eyes. He has to look away from his camera and mirrors to follow the windrow and connect to Mr. Hanley's blade. Exhibit 9 shows what the rearview camera looks like from the perspective of the operator. Brian Moe, again, testifies I look in my camera and my mirrors (illustrating), I see nobody behind me, so I look out my window and I'm following the blade along the windrow of snow. *There's no way to do that job while he's looking in the rearview camera*.

TR 708:7-24 (emphasis added). BSB's argument regarding Brian's "one set of eyes" conflates his duty as a grader driver to see what is to be seen, suggesting Brian's negligent actions and inactions were acceptable even if they were dangerous to the public. BSB argued.

But if you look at the location of Ms. Shahood's car, understanding that it wasn't pushed forward significantly, being past that white line leads to one of two conclusions: Either she didn't have room to stop at the light because she noticed Brian Moe's position, so she cut in as far up as possible, leaving -- to try to leave more room between her and the grader. The second option is as she's passing, she sees the light change from green to yellow, and she makes a last-second decision that she has to stop at the light.

<u>I don't know what was on her mind, whether she was distracted in some way</u>, but the facts of the accident clearly show that **she wasn't using TR care**. Brian Moe estimated that she had to have pulled in very close behind him. Again, his estimate was 10 to 15 feet, which is one car length. <u>She crowded the plow</u>.

TR 710:21-711:11 (emphasis added). There was no evidence Jennifer "didn't have room to stop at the light," that she cut in as far as possible, or that she made the last second decision. here is no evidence to support BSB's "one of two conclusions." The unsupported speculation that Jennifer was distracted is particularly prejudicial, especially given the high risk of enflaming the "distracted female driver" trope.

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